# AGREEMENT

## Between



## The Del Mar California Teachers Association (DMCTA)

And



## • UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT •

The Del Mar Union School District (DMUSD)

## Preamble

This Agreement shall be made and entered into by and between the Board of Trustees of the Del Mar Union School District, which together with its administrative staff and representatives, shall be referred to in this Agreement as the "District' and the Del Mar California Teachers Association/California Teachers Association/National Education Association, the certificated employees' exclusive representative which together with its officers and representatives shall be referred to in this Agreement as the "Association."

This Agreement is entered into pursuant to Chapter 10.7, Sections 3540-3549 of Government Code, which shall be referred to as the "EERA."

For the Association:

For the District:

FindCentre

Kevin Cunha, President DMCTA

Holly McClurg Holly McClurg Ph.D, Superintendent

Ratified by the Association Date: <u>5/6/22</u>

Approved by the Board of Education Date: 5/25/22

## **DMCTA-DMUSD** Vision Statement

We, the stakeholders in the DMUSD, are committed to:

- Operating in a trustworthy relationship with mutual respect
- Sharing common goals with a continued focus on quality education for all children
- Achieving our District's vision by honoring individuals and appreciating differences
- Promoting a fair working relationship through understanding and acceptance
- Demonstrating collaboration through shared decision-making which includes all stakeholders
- Valuing honest, open communication
- Using a total team process of consensus for problem solving with balanced representation
- Retaining a sense of community while adjusting to the growth in the District
- Embracing and supporting all new members, to encourage full participation in our educational community
- Providing and maintaining a contract based on mutual interests and utilizing Interest Based Bargaining

## **Table of Contents**

Article 1 - Recognition	5
Article 2 - Definitions	5
Article 3 - Association Rights	6
Article 4 - Management Rights	7
Article 5 - Non-Discrimination	
Article 6 - Negotiations Procedures	
Article 7 - Savings and Separability	9
Article 8 - Maintenance of Standards and Practices	9
Article 9 - Grievance Procedure	9
Article 10 - Transfers and Assignments	
Article 11 - Evaluations	17
Article 12 - Personnel File	
Article 13- Professional Responsibilities/Hours of Employment/Duty	
Article 14 - Safety Conditions of Employment	
Article 15 – Leaves	
Article 16 - Early Retirement	
Article 17 - Professional Growth	
Article 18 - Class Size	
Article 19 – Salaries and Benefits	
Article 20 - Support for Beginning Teachers	44
Article 21 - Professional Rights	44
Article 22 - Shared Assignments	44
Article 23 - Substitutes	46
Article 24 - Bargaining Unit Member Assignments	46
Article 25 - Site-Based Decision-Making	47
Article 26 - Term	

## <u>Appendix</u>

1	Contract Grievance Form	48
2	Certificated Personnel – Evaluation, Goals & Observation Forms	49-51
3	Certificated Personnel – Assistance Plan	52
4	Classified Personnel – Evaluation Report	53
5	Overclass Size Notification for Special Education	54
6	Certificated Personnel - Salary Schedule	55-56
7	Classified Personnel – Salary Schedule	57
8	Certificated Personnel - Extra Hourly Rates	58

## Article 1 - Recognition

- The District recognizes the Association as the exclusive representative for the purposes of the Educational Employment Relations Act.
   The bargaining unit shall include all full-time or part-time certificated employees and Occupational Therapists in the Del Mar Union School District.
   Excluded from recognition are those who are management, supervisory, or confidential
- 1.3 Excluded from recognition are those who are management, supervisory, or confidential employees, substitute teachers, and teachers hired exclusively for summer programs.

## Article 2 - Definitions

- 2.1 "District" is the Del Mar Union School District, its Board of Education, Administration, and other designated Representatives.
  2.2 "Association" means the Del Mar California Teachers Association/CTA/NEA, its officers and representatives of the certificated bargaining unit in the District.
  2.3 "Immediate supervisor" means the unit member's administrator, supervisor or director employed by the District who has direct responsibility for supervising the unit member.
- 2.4 "Unit member" means any District employee who is included in the appropriate unit as defined in Article 1.2, therefore covered by the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
- 2.5 "Day" means days the District office is open for business.

Usually this person is the building principal.

- 2.6 "Duty day(s)" means day(s) during which unit members are required by contract to render service.
- 2.7 "Instructional day(s)" means day(s) students are present for instruction.
- 2.8 "Paid leave of absence" means a unit member shall be entitled to receive wages and all fringe benefits, including, but not limited to, insurance and retirement benefits, return to the same or similar assignment which he/she enjoyed immediately preceding the commencement of the leave, and receive credit for annual salary increments provided during his/her leave.
- 2.9 "Unpaid leave of absence" means a unit member shall be entitled to the same benefits accorded unit members who are on paid leave, excluding wages, benefits and credit for annual salary increments provided during his/her leave.
- 2.10 "Daily rate of pay" means the unit member's annual scheduled salary divided by the number of duty days required by the Agreement.

- 2.11 "Instructional Hourly Rate" means the mutually negotiated hourly rate for direct student instruction or specialized services, such as ESY.
- 2.12 "Extra Hourly Rate" means the mutually negotiated hourly rate for extra assigned duties, such as curriculum writing task forces and IEP's.
- 2.13 "Building" means a site or location where a unit member works.
- 2.14 "Seniority" means length of continuous service in the District.
- 2.15 "Immediate family" means the employee's, or the employee's spouse's, mother (stepmother), father (stepfather), daughter (stepdaughter, daughter-in-law), son (stepson, son-in-law), grandmother, grandfather, granddaughter, grandson, sister (stepsister, sister-in-law), brother (stepbrother, brother-in-law), niece, nephew, aunt, uncle, and any person living in the household of the unit member.
- 2.16 "Caseload" means all students for whom a special education unit member (Education Specialist, Speech/Language Pathologist, Adapted Physical Education Specialist, Occupational Therapist, School Psychologist) is responsible for providing special education services and is responsible for drafting, monitoring progress of and reporting on IEP goals.
- 2.17 "Unduplicated" means a count of special education students for whom a specialist is the case manager and is responsible for completing the IEP process.
- 2.18 "Duplicated" means a count of special education students for whom the specialist is responsible solely for the goals/objectives and service for their area of expertise and not for case management.
- 2.19 "Waiver" means an agreed upon and approved change in contract language for one year only. A "Grandfather Clause" to a Waiver means it will be in place for a specified duration of time or until a specified event takes place.
- 2.20 "Co-Teaching" means a general education unit member who is designated by the Student Services Department as a partnership with an Education Specialist to share the responsibilities (e.g. planning, instruction, evaluation) for teaching some or all the students assigned to the classroom.

## Article 3 - Association Rights

3.1 The Association may use District facilities upon notification. The Association agrees to comply with reasonable District rules and regulations governing use of school facilities. Association representatives conducting organization business shall, upon arriving at a site, report initially to the office of the principal to announce their presence and purpose. Such visits shall be scheduled only during the employee's duty free lunch

period or non-duty hours. The Association shall ensure that the District has a current list of authorized Association representatives.

- 3.2 The Association shall have the right to post notices on unit member bulletin boards provided by the District at each school site in areas frequented by unit members. The Association may use the District mail services and unit member mailboxes for communications to unit members. The distribution of Association material is subject to the workload of the District mail delivery service. The Association is responsible for the content of all information sent in the District mail and posted on bulletin boards.
- 3.3 The site principal and Association representative shall mutually develop agenda placement and time allotment for association business at each staff meeting as needed.
- 3.4 Authorized representatives of the Association shall be permitted to transact Association business on their non-duty time, as long as it does not interfere with the instructional program.
- 3.5 The Association shall be provided up to twenty (20) days of released time per year to conduct Association business without loss of pay or benefits. No individual association member shall be released for more than five (5) days unless mutually agreed upon by the District and the Association. All released time must be taken in increments of one-half (1/2) or one (1) day.
- 3.6 The Association shall have unit members on all selection panels for the hiring of certificated teaching, management, and supervisory positions when possible. Whenever feasible, the Association representatives will be from the same site and/or grade level team to which the position will be assigned.
- 3.7 The Association reserves the rights guaranteed under Assembly Bill 119 (Employee Orientation Bill).

## Article 4 - Management Rights

4.1 It is understood and agreed that the District retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage and control the operation of the District to the full extent of the law. Included in, but not limited to those duties and powers are the exclusive rights to: determine its organization; direct the work of its employees; determine the times and hours of operation; determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided, and the methods and means of providing them; establish its educational policies, goals, and objectives; ensure the rights and educational opportunities of students; determine staffing patterns; determine the number and kinds of personnel required; maintain the efficiency of District operations; determine the curriculum; build, move, repair, maintain, or modify facilities; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocation; determine the methods of raising revenue; contract out work; and take action on any matter in the event of an emergency. In addition, the District retains the right

to hire, classify, assign, reassign, transfer, evaluate, promote, layoff, terminate and discipline employees; and to determine the effects and impact of any action implementing these rights, insofar as they do not detract nor diminish the specific provisions of this Agreement.

- 4.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the terms of this Agreement, and then only to the extent such terms are in conformance with law.
- 4.3 The District retains its right to amend, modify or rescind this Agreement in cases of emergency. The determination of whether an emergency exists is solely within the discretion of the Board of Trustees. Emergency shall be defined as but not limited to: a natural disaster, national emergency, act of God, epidemic, or similar catastrophe. When the Board determines that the emergency no longer exists, the Agreement, which was amended, modified, or rescinded, during the emergency, shall be reinstated.

## Article 5 - Non-Discrimination

The District shall prohibit discrimination because of race, color, national origin, sexual orientation, religion, sex, age, disability, marital status, membership in an employee organization, participation in the activities of an employee organization or exercise of the rights contained in this Agreement.

## Article 6 - Negotiations Procedures

- 6.1 The Association and the District agree that any article of the contract, including salary and benefits (Article 19), may be reopened at any time by mutual agreement.
- 6.2 Article 19 shall be open for negotiation annually unless the parties mutually agree to a multiple year term on salary and benefits.
- 6.3 For articles other than salary and benefits, either party shall have the right to reopen negotiations on up to three (3) articles per year. Such unilateral reopeners shall be initiated during the period of September 1 through April 30.
- 6.4 Meetings shall take place at mutually agreeable times and places, providing that meetings commence within thirty (30) days from receipt of a written request. The District shall provide substitutes as needed/applicable for unit members who attend interest-based bargaining sessions during the duty day for up to six members. For bargaining unit members whose positions do not allow for a substitute, the unit member will work with their supervisor and DMCTA to determine additional support, as needed. The District team shall consist of up to six members.

- 6.5 The meetings shall be closed to the public. One common set of minutes shall be taken, ratified and shared prior to the conclusion of each meeting. Neither side shall take or permit tape recordings of the sessions.
- 6.6 Within thirty (30) days of ratification of the Agreement by both parties, the District shall post the Agreement on the District website.
- 6.7 Any individual contract between the Board and a unit member shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, unless mutually agreed to by the Superintendent and the Association Executive Board.

#### Article 7 - Savings and Separability

- 7.1 Should any provisions of the Agreement be declared illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction or by the Public Employee Relations Board, said provision shall be deleted from this Agreement to the extent it violated the law. The remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
- 7.2 If there is a legislative or statutory change or directive from the State Department of Education affecting the provisions of this Agreement, either party may open negotiations on the affected provision.

## Article 8 - Maintenance of Standards and Practices

- 8.1 The District shall not reduce or eliminate any health and welfare benefits or past practices that are within the scope of interest-based bargaining unless otherwise provided by the express terms of this Agreement.
- 8.2 This Agreement shall supersede any rules, regulations, or practices of the District, which are contrary to, or inconsistent with, its terms.

#### Article 9 - Grievance Procedure

- 9.1 Definitions:
  - 9.1.1 A "*Grievance*" is a claim by one (1) or more unit member(s) that the District has violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied a provision of this Agreement.
  - 9.1.2 A *"Grievant"* is a unit member(s) making the grievance.

- 9.1.3 *"Day"* means days the District office is open for business.
- 9.2 The purpose of the grievance procedure is to secure, at the lowest possible administrative level, equitable solutions to the problems that may arise affecting the welfare or working conditions of unit members. These proceedings will be kept as informal and confidential as may be appropriate at any level of the procedure.
- 9.3 Procedure:
  - 9.3.1 <u>Informal Level</u>: Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant shall attempt to resolve the grievance through an informal conference with the grievant's site administrator and/or department supervisor (when applicable). Such conference, as well as actual formal filing of a written grievance, in the event the conference does not resolve the problem, must take place within the applicable time limits as outlined in Level I.
  - 9.3.2 <u>Level I</u>: No later than twenty (20) days following the act or omission giving rise to the grievance, or no later than twenty (20) days following the date upon which the grievant reasonably should have known of the act or omission, the grievant must present such grievance in writing to his/her site administrator and/or department supervisor using the grievance form with a copy simultaneously provided to the President of the Association and the Superintendent. The written grievance shall describe the event giving rise to the grievance, must list the specific provisions of the Agreement which were allegedly violated, and shall provide a minimum of two (2) options to remedy the grievance. The site administrator and/or department supervisor shall communicate a written decision to the unit member within fifteen (15) days after receiving the grievance. If the grievance is denied, the site administrator and/or department supervisor shall state, in writing, the rationale for the denial.
  - 9.3.3 <u>Level II</u>: If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level I, he/she may appeal the grievance in writing with the Superintendent or his/her designee, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the Level I response. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall communicate a decision in writing within fifteen (15) days after receiving the appeal. Either the grievant or the administrator may request a personal conference within this time frame. Any request for a conference at this level shall be granted.
  - 9.3.4 <u>Level III</u>: If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level II, or if Level II is unsuccessful in resolving the grievance, he/she may request in writing, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the Level II response that the grievance be submitted for mediation. The District and the Association shall communicate a decision in writing within fifteen (15) days after receiving the request. Upon mutual agreement of the District and the

Association, the grievance may be submitted to mediation in an attempt to resolve the grievance. If there is agreement to submit the grievance to mediation, the parties shall retain a mediator trained in interest-based negotiations. The mediation group shall consist of the grievant, the Association Representative, the Administrator involved, and the Superintendent. The mediator shall be mutually agreed upon by the Association and the District. The cost of the mediator shall be shared equally by the Association and the District. The mediator shall be limited to six (6) hours of mediation which shall be completed within twenty (20) days after the request for an interest-based mediator. The parties may mutually agree in writing to extend this timeline. Statements and offers of settlement made in the mediation does not satisfactorily resolve the grievance, the grievant may appeal the grievance to Level IV.

9.3.5 Level IV: If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level III, or Level III is unsuccessful in resolving the grievance, he/she may make a written request to the Association for the grievance to be heard before an arbitrator. Should the Association determine that the grievance should be submitted to arbitration, the Association shall notify the Superintendent within thirty (30) days of the conclusion of the previous level of the grievance procedure.

> The Association shall request a list of arbitrators from the California State Mediation and Conciliation Services. The selection of the arbitrator and the arbitration proceeding shall be conducted under the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

> The District and Association shall share equally in the payment for the services and expenses of the arbitrator.

Upon mutual agreement, shall share equally in the payment for the services of a qualified court reporter to record verbatim the hearing. Without mutual agreement, either party may employ and compensate such a reporter.

The function of the arbitrator shall be:

- a. To hold a hearing concerning the grievance, and
- b. To render a binding decision within thirty (30) calendar days of the hearing or receipt of closing briefs (if any).

The arbitrator shall have no power to alter, amend, change, add to, or subtract from any terms of this Agreement but shall determine only whether or not there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of the Agreement as alleged by the grievant(s).

The arbitrator shall determine disputed interpretation of terms actually found in the Agreement or determine disputed facts upon which the application of the Agreement depends. The arbitrator may not decide any issue not submitted and may not interpret or apply the Agreement to change what can fairly be said to have been the intent of the parties as determined by generally accepted rules of contract construction. The arbitrator shall not render any decision or award merely because, in the arbitrator's opinion, such decision or award is fair and equitable.

No decision rendered by the arbitrator shall be retroactive beyond two (2) years from when the grievance is filed.

- 9.4 A grievant may be accompanied at all levels of the grievance procedure by an Association representative(s), or a representative of a unit member's choice.
- 9.5 No party of interest at any level of the grievance procedure will be required to meet with any administrator concerning the grievance without a representative present.
- 9.6 When it is necessary for a grievant and a representative designated by the Association to attend a grievance meeting or hearing during the workday, he/she shall be released without loss of pay in order to participate in the foregoing activities. Any unit member who is required to appear in such scheduled meetings or hearings will be accorded the same right.
- 9.7 All records dealing specifically with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel file of the participants.
- 9.8 Failure of the District administrators to meet the timelines specified after the informal step of the grievance procedure shall render the grievance valid and one of the options provided by the grievant from Level I shall be effectuated.
- 9.9 Failure of the grievant to meet the timelines specified after the informal level shall render the grievance null and void.
- 9.10 Time limits provided for each level shall begin the day following receipt of the grievance appeal or written decision.
- 9.11 No reprisals of any kind will be taken by any member or representative of the District or by the Association against any grievant, any party in interest, any member of the Association, or any other participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.
- 9.12 Forms for filing grievances and other necessary documents will be prepared jointly by the Superintendent or his/her designee and the Association. The District shall provide for printing such forms. *(The grievance form is attached to this contract as Appendix 1.)*

- 9.13 A unit member may present grievances to the employer and have such grievances adjusted without the intervention of the Association, if the adjustment is consistent with terms and conditions of this written Agreement. After a unit member presents a Level I grievance, the Association shall have the right to be present and state its views at Levels I through IV grievance meetings.
- 9.14 The District shall not agree to a resolution of the grievance until the Association has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution and has been given the opportunity to file a response.

## Article 10 - Transfers and Assignments

- 10.1 Definitions:
  - 10.1.1 A *transfer* is a change of work location between schools or facilities. A transfer can be either voluntary (initiated by the unit member) or involuntary (initiated by administration).
  - 10.1.2 A *reassignment* is a change of assignment or grade level at a worksite.
  - 10.1.3 A *vacancy* is any job opening within the District directly or indirectly created by a termination, resignation, retirement, or staff addition. Note: A vacancy is NOT an opening that will be filled by the reassignment of a probationary/ permanent member at the site.
  - 10.1.4 Length of service in the District commences on the first day of paid probationary service in the District.
  - 10.1.5 "End of Year Placement Preference Questionnaire" is a document which advises administration of unit member placement preferences for the following school year. The Questionnaire will be distributed to certificated staff prior to the first vacancy posting.
- 10.2 Notification of Assignment
  - 10.2.1 Each unit member shall be given notice of their next year's assignment no later than the last working day of the school year, unless the Superintendent, or designee, and the DMCTA President mutually agree upon an extension.
  - 10.2.2 The District shall notify all unit members of all known vacancies by posting via district email. No vacancy shall be filled until at least three (3) working days following posting of the notice. The notice of each vacancy shall clearly set forth the qualifications for the position, the assignment, the start date, and the date by which the applicant must file the application.

10.2.3 Beginning three weeks before the first certificated staff workday vacancies will be posted for one (1) working day. Beginning three (3) days before the first certificated workday, unanticipated vacancies will be staffed by administration. Any vacancy filled by a temporary certificated employee shall be posted during the following year's initial posting period.

#### 10.3 Priorities for Placement

- 10.3.1 Placement of current unit members in known vacancies shall be given priority before hiring new staff. Temporary teachers retain their placement rights as defined in Education Code Section <u>44918</u>.
- 10.3.2 Priorities for placement of voluntary and involuntary transfers shall be in the following order:
  - a. Unit members who are subject to involuntary transfer.
  - b. Unit members currently assigned at a site where a vacancy exists.
  - c. Unit members assigned to other District sites.
- 10.3.3 Combination Class

The District agrees to make a good faith effort to place unit members who teach a combination class in one of the two grade levels of their combination class when enrollment no longer necessitates said combination class.

#### 10.4 Voluntary Transfer

- 10.4.1 When a vacancy is advertised, unit members may request a voluntary transfer to the vacant position. The request to be considered for the position shall be delivered in writing to the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources and/or a designee by the deadline prescribed in the vacancy announcement.
- 10.4.2 In acting on requests for a voluntary transfer, the following guidelines shall be considered in determining approval of requests:
  - Credential and training of the unit member.
  - The preferences of the unit member.
  - The preference of the site administrator(s) including program needs, qualifications that support student learning and team dynamics.
  - Prior transfer requests.
- 10.4.3 The District shall notify the unit member if he/she is not given the transfer. The unit member may, within ten (10) days of this notice, request the reason(s) in writing for not being selected for the transfer. The District shall provide the reason(s) within ten (10) days of the request.

#### 10.5 Involuntary Transfers or Reassignments

- 10.5.1 Involuntary transfers or reassignments may be made for the following reasons:
  - To balance the staff of the District by considering factors related to the District.
  - Educational needs of the students.
  - A change of enrollment necessitating transfer of staff.
  - Modification of instructional program such as STEAM+ allocation changes.
  - Lack of funding and/or declining enrollment.
  - To provide an opportunity to evaluate a unit member in a different environment.
- 10.5.2 When making involuntary transfers, administrators shall take the following factors into consideration in making their final decision:
  - Length of service of the unit member in the District, at a particular grade level or assignment, or at a school site.
  - Teachers assigned to combination classes.
  - Team dynamics and ability to work effectively in collaboration.
  - Prior involuntary transfer history.
  - Consideration of individual preferences.
- 10.5.3 Involuntary transfers only: Unit members who are notified that they are to be involuntarily transferred may, within ten (10) days of receipt of the notice of involuntary transfer, request the reasons in writing for the involuntary transfer. The District shall provide the reason(s) in writing within ten (10) days of receipt of the request.
- 10.5.4 Unit members who are general education classroom teachers shall not be involuntarily transferred or reassigned more than once during two (2) consecutive school years.
- 10.5.5 Notice shall be given of involuntary transfer or reassignment as soon as possible.
- 10.5.6 No unit member shall be involuntarily transferred or reassigned arbitrarily or capriciously.

#### 10.6 Involuntary Transfer or Reassignment Compensation

- 10.6.1 Unit members who are involuntarily transferred or reassigned within three (3) duty days prior to the first student day of school, or any time after the beginning of the school year, shall receive two (2) release days or a stipend equivalent to two (2) days at their daily rate of pay.
- 10.6.2 Unit members who are involuntarily reassigned or subject to classroom relocation will be compensated equivalent to one (1) day at their daily rate of pay prorated based on FTE of the reassignment or relocation. Unit members who are involuntarily transferred will be compensated equivalent to two (2) days at their daily rate of pay prorated based on FTE of the reassignment or relocation.
- 10.6.3 If an administrator has a need to reassign personnel, and a bargaining unit member volunteers to fulfill the open position it will be treated as an involuntary reassignment.
- 10.6.4 A maximum of three (3) who are on a team that receives an involuntarily transferred or reassigned teacher within three (3) duty days prior to the beginning of the school year, or any time after the beginning of the school year, and who volunteer to assist the new team member shall be provided a stipend equivalent to one (1) day at their daily rate of pay in order to prepare with the new team member. The provisions of this section shall also apply to teams that add a new teacher hired from outside the school district within the specified time periods.
- 10.7 Unit members returning from leave shall be assigned a position in accordance with the provisions of Article 10.
- 10.8 The District agrees to make a good faith effort to limit the number of assignment location changes within a site and involuntary transfers across the district. ("Assignment location change") is defined as the physical relocation from one room to another.
- 10.9 The District shall provide assistance in moving a unit member's materials whenever a unit member is transferred/reassigned for any reason.
- 10.10 Notice of Layoff. In the event that the District determines that it is necessary to reduce the number of Occupational Therapist positions due to a lack of work or lack of funds, the reduction in force shall occur in reverse order of seniority. Seniority shall be determined by the first date of paid probationary service in the Occupational Therapist position. For Occupational Therapists sharing the same seniority date, seniority shall be determined by a lottery. Notice shall be given in accordance with Section <u>45117</u> of the Education Code, and the District shall notice of layoff to affected Occupational Therapists on or before March 15 for any layoff that will be effective at the end of the

school year. This provision does not preclude the District from implementing an emergency layoff due to Section  $\frac{45117(d)}{100}$  of the Education Code.

10.11 Reemployment Rights. An Occupational Therapist who is laid off shall have a priority right to reemployment with the District consistent with the Education Code for a period of thirty-nine (39) months following the effective date of layoff above others except for any Occupational Therapists on the thirty-nine (39) month medical reemployment list. Offers of reemployment shall be made to those on the layoff reemployment list in seniority order. An offer of reemployment may be waived, without prejudice, for up to one school year.

## Article 11 - Evaluations

- 11.1 It is recognized that a system of periodic evaluation is essential to assist unit members in developing competency and in realizing their potential. It is further recognized that information gathered through periodic evaluations will enable District decisions, for which a unit member's competence is relevant, to be made in a just and equitable manner.
- 11.2 Probationary and temporary certificated unit members shall be evaluated each school year. Permanent certificated unit members shall be evaluated every other school year. Probationary Occupational Therapists shall be evaluated in their 2<sup>nd</sup> month, 4<sup>th</sup> month and 6<sup>th</sup> month. Permanent Occupational Therapists shall be evaluated annually. Those certificated unit members receiving a "needs improvement" may be evaluated every year. If a unit member is scheduled to be evaluated during a particular school year but is granted a leave of absence for eighteen (18) weeks or longer, such evaluation shall take place during the first year of return to duty.
- 11.3 Unit members to be evaluated during a particular year shall be furnished a copy of the evaluation procedures, advised of criteria upon which the evaluation is to be based, and notified of the identity of their evaluator no later than October 15 of the year in which the evaluation is to take place.
- 11.4 The certificated unit member being evaluated, and the evaluator shall meet no later than October 15 to discuss objectives and standards to be achieved during the evaluation period.
- 11.5 In the event of a disagreement over the objectives, standards and/or evaluation schedule, the unit member and evaluator shall:
  - 11.5.1 Make a good faith effort to resolve the difference themselves.
  - 11.5.2 If the disagreement persists, the parties may invite a mutually agreed upon third party to assist in resolving the difference. The third party shall recommend alternatives to the unit member and evaluator.

- 11.5.3 If either the unit member or evaluator rejects the proposed alternatives, each shall have the opportunity to state their position on the matter(s) in dispute and to have a written statement attached to the evaluation form.
- 11.5.4 The unit member shall have the right to identify any constraints which the unit member believes may inhibit his/her ability to meet the objectives and standards established.
- 11.6 During the course of the evaluation period, circumstances may change which require modification of the original objectives and standards. The unit member may initiate a change of these objectives and standards in a manner prescribed in section 11.4 above.
- 11.7 The certificated evaluation process shall include the following activities:
  - 11.7.1 Observations: One (1) mutually planned observation shall be conducted for each evaluation cycle for all permanent unit members and two (2) for probationary and temporary unit members and shall be followed by a conference with written feedback within ten (10) days. Temporary unit members who have been employed by the District for more than three years shall be observed once per year. Any observation in addition to those specified in this article should be beneficial and of value to both evaluator and the unit member being evaluated. Such observations must not be detrimental to the instructional process.
  - 11.7.2 A unit member who receives a negative evaluation shall, upon request, be entitled to additional classroom observations, evaluation conferences, and written evaluations. Such entitlement includes a pre-observation conference.
  - 11.7.3 The immediate supervisor shall meet with first-year probationary employees by February 1, or no later than the midpoint of the unit member's instructional year. At this meeting, the immediate supervisor shall review the unit member's performance to date and inform the unit member whether any problems were noted that could result in the unit member being denied permanent status. If any such problems are identified, the immediate supervisor shall provide the unit member, at this meeting, with a written assistance plan (see 11.7.4) designed to allow the unit member to make the improvement status, the unit member shall again be provided with a written assistance plan (see 11.7.4) designed to allow the unit member being denied permanent status, the unit member shall again be provided with a written assistance plan (see 11.7.4) designed to allow the unit member being denied permanent status, the unit member shall again be provided with a written assistance plan (see 11.7.4) designed to allow the unit member being denied permanent status, the unit member shall again be provided with a written assistance plan (see 11.7.4) designed to allow the unit member to make the improvements necessary to attain permanent status.
  - 11.7.4 In the case of negative evaluation(s), or if any problems persist after feedback and/or support for professional/instructional practice have been

provided, the evaluator shall take positive action to develop a written assistance plan which will assist the unit member in correcting any cited deficiencies. The member will be notified of the purpose of the meeting upon scheduling. The evaluator's role to assist the unit member shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- 11.7.4.1 Specific recommendations for improvement.
- 11.7.4.2 Direct assistance to implement such recommendations.
- 11.7.4.3 Provision of additional resources, without cost to the unit member, to be utilized to assist with improvements (i.e. a peer coach).
- 11.7.5 In preparing the final evaluation form for placement in the unit member's personnel file, the evaluator shall rely primarily upon data collected through classroom observations and evaluation conferences. Unsubstantiated statements shall not be included in the evaluation.
- 11.8 A unit member shall not be evaluated on or held accountable for any aspect of the educational program over which the unit member has no authority or ability to correct deficiencies.
- 11.9 A final evaluation conference between the unit member and evaluator shall be held no later than twenty (20) days prior to the end of the unit member work year to discuss the content of the final evaluation form. In the event the unit member disputes the content, the unit member may prepare a written statement, which shall be attached and incorporated into the final evaluation. The final evaluation form shall contain only ratings of "satisfactory," "needs improvement," and "unsatisfactory" and shall be provided to the unit member ten (10) days prior to the end of the school year.
- 11.10 Unit members shall not be required to participate in the evaluation of other unit members.
- 11.11 Responsibility for the collection and determination of necessary data shall be determined mutually between the evaluator and the unit member being evaluated. This data will verify the accomplishment of performance objectives. The following are options:
  - Structured observations (announced and unannounced)
  - Evaluation by other administrators
  - Services provided to others in the District (workshops conducted, advising committees, study groups, task forces)
  - Other documentation provided by the unit member
  - Other evaluation techniques generally accepted by the profession

- 11.12 The performance objectives established at the initial conference may be revised upon the request of the unit member with the agreement of the evaluator. Some of the factors, which might lead to requests for revision of performance objectives, are:
  - Change in the composition of the class
  - Class reorganization
  - Evidence that objectives are not suitable for the class
  - Exceptionally poor student attendance patterns
  - Inadequate instructional facilities, equipment, supplies or materials
  - Significant change in class size
  - A disproportionate number of students with significant needs
  - Prolonged unit member absence
- 11.13 The evaluation of unit members pursuant to this Article, shall not include or be based upon the following:
  - 11.13.1 The personal life or lifestyle of a unit member, his/her personal opinions, and scholarly, literary, or artistic endeavors
  - 11.13.2 Information obtained from devices used for communications and monitoring safety conditions. Such information shall also not be used for discipline or discharge of the unit member.
- 11.14 Association representative(s) may be present at meetings described in this Article.
- 11.15 A committee composed of two (2) representatives appointed by the Association and two (2) representatives appointed by the District shall develop the evaluation documents necessary to implement this Article which shall become part of this Agreement. (The certificated evaluation forms are attached to this contract as Appendices 2-3. The Occupational Therapist evaluation form is attached to this contract as Appendic as Appendix 4)

## Article 12 - Personnel File

- 12.1 There shall be a single personnel file for each unit member. Personnel files shall be kept online.
- 12.2 Access to the files shall be limited to the unit member, persons authorized in writing by the unit member, authorized District personnel or by court order. Records shall be maintained with the personnel file indicating purpose, date, and identification of person(s) to whom the file was released.
- 12.3 Materials in the personnel file of a unit member shall be made available for inspection by the unit member with prior notification. Unit members shall have the right to inspect and obtain a copy of their personnel file materials upon request. Upon

authorization by the unit member, an Association representative may review the unit member's file or accompany the unit member in his/her review of the file.

- 12.4 "Summary of Conference" is strictly a summary of a conversation which takes place between administration and a unit member. If an administrator determines the conversation will be documented with a "Summary of Conference," a unit member will be notified at that time.
- 12.5 Information of a derogatory/disciplinary nature shall not be entered or filed unless and until the unit member is given an opportunity to review and comment thereon. A unit member may attach a response to that document.
  - 12.5.1 If the unit member alleges that the material is false and/or unsubstantiated, he/she shall meet informally with the individual attempting to enter the alleged derogatory/disciplinary statement to attempt to resolve the disagreement.
  - 12.5.2 Failing to reach a mutual resolution, the unit member may request a review committee composed of two representatives selected by the bargaining unit and two management unit members to resolve the dispute about the validity of the material. This committee shall convene within thirty (30) working days of a written request by the unit member.
  - 12.5.3 In the event the District fails to comply with the provisions of this section, such material shall not be allowed as evidence in any disciplinary or dismissal action against the unit member or used by the District in any grievance filed by the unit member.
- 12.6 All material placed in a unit member's personnel file shall be dated and signed by the person who caused the material to be prepared. The unit member must receive a copy of the material within ten (10) days of the date the document was prepared. Documents in the personnel file shall be added in a timely fashion and in no circumstances shall material be added that has not been discussed with the unit member within three (3) months of the event. No administrator shall introduce derogatory/disciplinary evidence from a unit member's personnel file relating to non-instructional matters that occurred more than four years prior. (Education Code Section <u>44944</u>)
- 12.7 Derogatory/disciplinary material remaining in a unit member's file for a period of three (3) years shall be removed from the file at the unit member's written request.
- 12.8 Anonymous materials shall not be placed in the personnel file.

13.1 Professional Responsibilities

The unit member has the responsibility to perform the following core professional duties where applicable:

- Two night events per year:
  - General Education Teachers and Education Specialists attend Back to School Night & Open House.
  - Itinerant STEAM+ Teachers will attend both assigned site's STEAM+ Nights.
  - Non-itinerant STEAM+ Teachers will attend their site STEAM+ night and assist another site's STEAM+ night.
  - Other unit members not identified above will attend up to two night events (relevant to their position) as determined by the unit member and supervisor.
  - All unit members who choose to attend more than two night events will be paid the non-instructional extra hourly rate with supervisor approval.
- Class placement process
- Duty supervision
- STEAM+ Specialist collaboration
- 504 meetings for a student in the bargaining unit member's class
- Grade level team collaboration
- Grade student work
- IEP meetings for a student in the bargaining unit member's class
- Maintain web page
- Parent communication
- Parent/Teacher Conferences
- Participate in one school site committee per Article 13, section 13.5.1 of this agreement
- Prepare report cards
- Room Parent/volunteer collaboration
- Specialist collaboration (Education Specialist, OT, APE, SLP)
- SST meetings for a student in the unit member's class
- Staff meetings per contract
- Wednesday district/site meetings
- 13.2 Workday:
  - 13.2.1 A certificated unit member's workday shall be seven (7) hours, which includes a duty-free lunch of at least forty-five (45) consecutive minutes. An Occupational Therapist's workday shall be eight (8) hours, which does not include an additional duty free lunch of (30) consecutive minutes. Rainy day/minimum day lunch shall consist of at least thirty (30) consecutive

minutes of duty-free obligations. Unit members may leave campus during their duty-free lunch.

- 13.2.2 Daily hours of employment for unit members shall begin at 7:45 a.m. and end at 2:45 p.m. unless released earlier by their supervisor. Occupational Therapist daily hours will be from 7:00 a.m. – 3:30 p.m. or 7:30 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. unless released earlier by their supervisor. Association officers and staff site representatives shall be permitted to leave the work site following the end of the instructional day to attend Association activities. The Association shall notify the District of these dates.
- 13.2.3 The length and number of student recesses shall be mutually determined by the staff and the principal at each site with the final approval of the bargaining unit and the District Superintendent.
- 13.2.4 The length of the instructional day shall be mutually determined by the bargaining unit and the District Superintendent.
- 13.2.5 Unit members shall be excused from school at the end of the instructional day on any regular school day preceding a Board approved holiday after meeting any scheduled duty responsibility.
- 13.2.6 Staff meetings shall be held on no more than two Tuesdays per month. Staff meetings shall not extend more than forty-five (45) minutes past the end of the regular duty day. Staff meetings shall be planned by site principal based on site specific needs. Site principals shall allow for time in the meeting schedule for DMCTA updates as communicated by the site DMCTA representative (Reference Article 3.3). The District agrees not to schedule any District in-service on Tuesdays after the regular instructional day has been concluded.
- 13.2.7 As a result of extending the instructional day Monday through Friday (Time-Banked Minutes), the District will implement a modified student instructional schedule on Wednesdays during the school year. The modified schedule will provide for Professional Development/Collaborative Learning Wednesdays (CLW) work from 12:45 p.m. until 2:45 p.m. on the first and third Wednesdays of each month.

Collaborative Learning Wednesdays are times identified for colleagues to come together in a variety of groupings (as individual school sites, among schools districtwide, among specialty content areas/STEAM+, and the special education team) to apply and build upon previous learning, process and synthesize information, review student work, teacher collaborations around report cards and student progress, participate in new learning, and engage in the analysis of student data.

- 13.2.7.1 The school site principal and staff may develop opportunities for additional collaboration time as needed utilizing ideas such as, but not limited to, a cross-grade level buddy system, assemblies, and substitute release time.
- 13.2.7.2 As a result of extending the instructional day Monday through Friday (Time-Banked Minutes), the second, fourth, and fifth Wednesdays of each calendar month, the certificated unit member's duty day ends at 12:45.
- 13.2.7.3 The District will attempt to schedule cross-District committee meetings that make use of unit members who are paid stipends on the second, fourth and fifth Wednesdays of each month. (Examples of stipend committees are curriculum content committees.)
- 13.2.7.4 Student Services unit members and STEAM+ specialist jobrelated meetings may be scheduled on the first and third Wednesdays of each month as needed. Representatives from the District and DMCTA will meet prior to October 1st to create a tentative calendar of meeting dates for job-a-like, CLW, and Department meetings. The District will communicate to the Association any changes that need to be made to the calendar.
- 13.2.7.5 Two CLWs per year, will be scheduled for teacher collaboration around report cards or student progress, as is determined by each site administrator.
- 13.3 Planning Time

Unit members shall be provided with planning time as detailed in Article 18, Section 18.2 of this Agreement.

- 13.4 Parent-Teacher Conference/IEP, SST, 504 Meetings
  - 13.4.1 Parent-Teacher Conferences shall be held on minimum days.
  - 13.4.2 Unit members shall have appropriate prior notice for all IEP, IEP Related, SST and 504 meetings in which they are involved. Attendance for unit members at an IEP, IEP Related, SST or 504 meeting shall not extend more than one hour beyond the duty day and shall not be regularly scheduled.
  - 13.4.3 Certificated unit members who agree to attend IEP, IEP Related, SST, or 504 meetings that extend more than one (1) hour beyond the duty day shall be compensated at the District non-instructional extra hourly rate. Occupational

Therapists shall receive an overtime rate of their daily rate paid at time and a half for work beyond their 40 hour work week.

- 13.5 Adjunct Duties
  - 13.5.1 Unit members will be required to serve on no more than one adjunct committee per year. Adjunct committee obligations may require work beyond the normal workday, not to exceed five (5) hours per school year. Adjunct Committee obligations for certificated staff requiring additional work beyond five (5) hours per school year will be compensated at the District non-instructional extra hourly rate of pay.
  - 13.5.2 Administrators will make a good faith effort to assign adjunct duty in a manner that is equitable to staff members and will be mindful of other District commitments.
  - 13.5.3 Unit members shall be required to perform no more than the equivalent of seventy-five (75) minutes of recess, before and after school supervision duties per school week. A good faith effort will be made to consider the impact on itinerant staff when assigning duties.
    - 13.5.3.1 Unit members assigned to the following special education positions perform daily duty by serving their caseload and will not be required to serve on the site duty schedule except as provided in section 13.5.3.2:
      - Adapted Physical Education Teacher
      - School Psychologist
      - Education Specialist Teacher
      - Speech/Language Pathologist
      - Occupational Therapist
    - 13.5.3.2 Unit members who do not host parent teacher conferences may be inserted into the duty schedule during conference weeks to help alleviate the duty load for general education teachers. Site administrators will oversee the assignment of this duty.
  - 13.5.4 Unit members may volunteer to serve on District level committees. Certificated unit members who serve on District level committees outside of the workday will be compensated at the District non-instructional extra hourly rate or receive a stipend. Occupational Therapists shall receive an overtime rate of their daily rate paid at time and a half for work beyond their 40 hour work week.
  - 13.5.5 With prior administrative approval, certificated unit members who participate in activities beyond the workday will be compensated at the

appropriate district hourly rate or receive a stipend. Occupational Therapists shall receive an overtime rate of their daily rate paid at time and a half for work beyond their 40 hour work week. Such activities may include sixth grade camp and field trips.

#### 13.6 Work Year

The work year for unit members employed by the District shall be one hundred eightyfive (185) days consisting of one hundred eighty (180) student attendance days and five (5) days for preparation. For newly employed unit members, the work year shall be one hundred eight seven (187) days consisting of one hundred eighty (180) student attendance days, five (5) days for preparation, and two (2) days for orientation. The two additional days for newly employed unit members will be paid at their per diem rate. The two additional days may be waived at the discretion of the Assistant Superintendent of Instructional Services. Additionally, newly employed instructional staff will be required to attend professional development, up to fifteen hours per year, in the first two years of their employment. The fifteen additional hours for newly employed unit members will be paid at the non-instructional hourly rate. A minimum of three (3) full days for the five (5) preparation days shall be provided at the beginning of the school year without administration or staff meetings. Two (2) full days shall be dedicated to district/school business.

13.6.1 School Psychologists shall be provided the opportunity to work up to thirtyfive hours per school year as Administrative Designee in IEP meetings. To off-set hours spent serving as Administrative Designee, the School Psychologist can be compensated for up to thirty-five additional hours per year of on-site make-up time. The maximum annual stipend shall be \$5,000 and will be prorated hourly.

## Article 14 - Safety Conditions of Employment

- 14.1 Unit members shall not be required to work under hazardous conditions or to perform tasks that may endanger their health or safety. The requirements for safe working conditions are established and maintained under the California Occupational Safety and Health Act (CAL/OSHA).
- 14.2 Unit members have a responsibility to advise the District immediately of any condition, which a responsible person would consider unsafe. The District has a responsibility to respond and remedy in a timely manner.
- 14.3 Unit members, acting within the scope of their duties and responsibilities, may exercise the amount of physical contact reasonably necessary to ensure safety of unit members, other staff members, and students. Under such circumstances, an employee must exercise reasonable judgment and must act and react in a prudent manner.

- 14.4 Unit members shall immediately report cases of assault, injury, or threatening behavior suffered by them in connection with their employment to their principal or immediate supervisor, who shall immediately investigate and take appropriate action, which may include a report of the incident to the police. Such notification shall immediately be forwarded to the Superintendent. The principal will consult with the offended unit member to address the unit member's concerns during the investigative process. The Superintendent/principal shall comply with any reasonable, legal request from the unit member for information in the possession of the District relating to the incident or the persons involved and shall act in appropriate ways as liaison between the unit member, police and courts.
- 14.5 The District shall compensate unit members for work related medical and property loss due to assault, accident, vandalism, or theft.
  - 14.5.1 The District shall reimburse unit members up to \$1,000 for the repair or replacement of work-related personal property not covered by the member's own personal insurance.
- 14.6 The District shall provide support, which may include counseling, legal, and other assistance as appropriate, to unit members who may be assaulted while in performance of their duties.
- 14.7 The District shall take appropriate action against a student if a unit member's person or property is injured or damaged by the willful misconduct of the student that occurs during the course and scope of employment.
- 14.8 The District shall inform and train unit members in safety procedures. The District will make available general safety procedures, emergency plans and procedures, self-protection, sexual harassment, and crisis management.

## Article 15 – Leaves

- 15.1 Personal Illness and Injury Leave
  - 15.1.1 Unit members employed on a full-time basis shall be entitled to accumulate ten (10) days per school year of sick leave available to the unit member from the first day of each year. Sick leave may be used by the unit member for personal illness or injury. Sick leave that is not used shall accumulate from year to year without limit.
  - 15.1.2 Unit members who work less than full-time shall be entitled to accumulate and use sick leave for all such service at a rate that is in the same proportion to the full-time entitlement as their part-time employment bears to full-time employment.

- 15.1.3 The District shall provide each unit member with an accounting of the number of hours of sick leave he/she has accumulated, plus the number of hours to which the unit member is entitled for the current school year on their monthly paystubs.
- 15.1.4 Upon exhaustion of all accumulated sick leave, a unit member who would otherwise qualify for sick leave under the provisions of this article shall receive, for up to one hundred (100) days, the difference between his/her pay and the amount actually paid a substitute, or if no substitute has been employed, the amount that would be paid a substitute, or fifty (50) percent pay, whichever is greater.
  - 15.1.4.1 Occupational Therapists shall receive 100 days of extended illness leave per school year, including the annual sick leave entitlement, and shall receive fifty (50%) percent pay, upon exhaustion of all accumulated leave options. (Education Code 45196)
- 15.1.5 Unit members may use accumulated sick leave as set forth in this Article for disabilities caused by pregnancy, miscarriage, or childbirth, and recovery there from. The length of such sick leave including the date that the leave is to begin and the date that the duties are to be resumed shall be determined by the unit member's physician, who shall provide the District with written confirmation of disability.
- 15.1.6 If a unit member is absent for a half-day (1/2), one-half (1/2) day of sick leave will be deducted.
  - 15.1.6.1 If an Occupational Therapist is absent for any period of time, in increments of fifteen (15) minutes, that amount of leave will be deducted.

#### 15.2 Personal Necessity Leave

- 15.2.1 Accumulative leave which is credited under sick leave in this Agreement may be used, at the unit member's election, for purpose of personal necessity provided that use of such personal necessity leave does not exceed ten (10) days in any school year. There shall be no accumulation from year to year of such days. When the ten (10) days are exhausted and more time is needed, the unit member may petition the Superintendent for an extension.
  - 15.2.1.1 Accumulative leave which is credited under sick leave in this Agreement may be used, at the Occupational Therapists election, for the purpose of personal necessity provided that use of personal necessity leave does not exceed seven (7) days in a school year. There shall be no accumulation from year to year

of such days. When the seven (7) days are exhausted and more time is needed, the Occupational Therapist may petition the Superintendent for an extension.

- 15.2.2 Advanced notice of taking personal necessity leave except in an emergency shall be given by the unit member to the unit member's immediate supervisor. Absences of more than two days must get prior approval from Human Resources. Personal necessity leave shall be granted to a unit member for the following reasons:
  - 15.2.2.1 Serious illness of a unit member's immediate family.
  - 15.2.2.2 Illness of a child.
  - 15.2.2.3 Accident or incident involving the unit member's personal property, or the personal property of a member of the unit member's immediate family that requires the unit member's absence from work.
  - 15.2.2.4 Appearance in court as a litigant.
  - 15.2.2.5 The birth of a child making it necessary for a unit member who is the parent/guardian of the child, or the adoption of a child making it necessary for a unit member who is an adopting parent of the child, to be absent during the assigned hours of service.
  - 15.2.2.6 Life events that the unit member cannot reasonably be expected to ignore, and requires the attendance of the unit member during working hours such as:
    - Marriage of an immediate family member.
    - Attendance of a funeral.
    - Other family responsibilities (i.e. graduation, award ceremonies, taking a child to college).
  - 15.2.2.7 Religious Observance Leave for members of religious faiths to attend services in their places of worship.
- 15.2.3 Personal necessity leave shall **not** be used for:
  - Pursuit of business, financial, or economic interest of the unit member
  - Recreation
  - Vacation

#### 15.3 Bereavement Leave:

- 15.3.1 Each unit member is entitled to a leave of absence on account of death of any member of the unit member's immediate family. No deduction shall be made from the salary of such unit member nor shall such leave be deducted from other leaves. A unit member is entitled to a leave not to exceed three (3) days. Two additional days for a total of five (5) days may be taken in the following circumstances:
  - For in-state travel if travel one (1) way exceeds four hundred (400) miles, or if out-of-state travel is required
  - For the death of a unit members spouse or child, to include stillbirth.

#### 15.4 Pregnancy Disability Leave

- 15.4.1 Unit members are entitled to use accumulated sick leave for disabilities caused, or contributed to, by pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth and recovery thereafter on the same terms and conditions governing leaves of absence from other illness or medical disability.
- 15.4.2 Such leave shall not be used for childcare, child rearing or preparation for child rearing.
- 15.4.3 The length of such disability leave including the date on which the leave shall commence and the date on which the duties are to be resumed, shall be determined by the unit member and the unit member's physician. The unit member shall provide a written confirmation from the physician of the disability.
- 15.4.4 The District will be following AB375 as of January 1, 2016. Regarding differential pay, all certificated staff will be charged equivalent to the daily cost of a general education substitute.
- 15.5 Family/Unpaid Maternity/ Child Rearing Leave:

Family/Unpaid Maternity/Child Rearing leave shall be supplied in accordance with The Federal Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the California Family Rights Act of 1991. *(See Board Policy 4017.)* 

15.5.1 Family Care and Medical Leave (FMLA) are separate and distinct from disability leave for pregnant unit members. Pregnant unit members may be entitled to a disability leave or an extended unpaid leave of absence in addition to FMLA as set forth in Article 15.4.

- 15.5.2 If the leave is requested for foster placement, adoption, or birth of a child, and both parents are unit members of the District, the total amount of FMLA for both parents is limited to twelve (12) weeks.
- 15.5.3 Eligible unit members shall request such leave as soon as possible prior to the date on which the leave is to begin. Such request shall be in writing and shall include a statement as to the dates the unit member plans to begin and end the leave.
- 15.5.4 The determination as to the date on which the leave shall begin and the duration shall be by mutual agreement between the unit member and the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- 15.5.5 There shall be no change in employment status for this leave.
- 15.5.6 If a unit member on leave for childbearing or child rearing experiences a miscarriage or death of a child subsequent to childbirth, the unit member may request an immediate assignment. If there is a vacancy for which a unit member is qualified, assignment will be made as soon as reasonable.
- 15.6 Industrial Accident/Work-Related Disability Leave:

The District's liability is limited to the minimum requirements mandated by Education Code Section 44984.

- 15.6.1 Unit members are entitled to Industrial Accident/Work-Related Disability Leave not to exceed sixty (60) days in any one (1) fiscal year for the same accident.
- 15.6.2 The District may have the unit member examined by a physician at the District's expense. At the election of the unit member, his/her own licensed physician may perform an Industrial Accident examination, provided that the unit member's physician is on file with the District at least six (6) months prior to the time of the injury.
- 15.6.3 When all available leaves of absences, paid or unpaid, have been exhausted and if the unit member is not medically able to assume the duties of the unit member's position, said unit member shall, if not placed in another position, be placed on a re-employment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months, unless the unit member has retired.
- 15.6.4 Industrial accident or illness leave will commence on the first day of absence.
- 15.6.5 Payment for wages lost on any day shall not, when added to an award granted the employee under the worker's compensation laws of this State, exceed the normal wages for the day.

- 15.6.6 Industrial accident leave will be reduced by one day for each day of authorized absence regardless of a compensation award made under worker's compensation.
- 15.6.7 Allowable industrial accident or illness leave shall not be accumulative from year to year. When an industrial accident or illness occurs at a time when the full sixty (60) days will overlap into the next fiscal year, the unit member shall be entitled to only that amount remaining at the end of the fiscal year in which the injury or illness occurred, for the same illness or injury.
- 15.6.8 When entitlement to industrial accident or illness leave has been exhausted, entitlement to other sick leave will then be used. However, if a unit member is receiving worker's compensation, the unit member shall be entitled to use only so much of the accumulated compensation time, vacation or other available leave which, when added to the worker's compensation award, provide for a full day's wage or salary.
- 15.6.9 Any unit member receiving benefits as a result of this section shall, during periods of injury or illness, remain within the State of California unless the District authorizes travel outside the state.
- 15.7 Judicial Leave:
  - 15.7.1 Unit members shall be provided leave for regularly called jury duty and to appear as a witness in court, other than a litigant, for reasons not brought about through the misconduct of a unit member.
  - 15.7.2 Subject to the provisions below, the unit member shall receive regular earnings from the District and shall transmit to the District all fees, exclusive of mileage received for jury service.
  - 15.7.3 As a matter of general policy, the District does not normally encourage unit members to seek exemption from or postponement of jury duty. If the unit member wants to postpone jury duty to the summer, he/she will receive the substitute's rate of pay plus fees for jury duty service. The unit member shall provide evidence of postponement and jury duty served to the district.
  - 15.7.4 A unit member on jury duty leave for 18 weeks or less shall be entitled to return to the same assignment held at the time such leave commenced, unless such assignment had been discontinued, in which case the unit member shall be entitled to a comparable position. A unit member on judicial leave for more than eighteen (18) weeks shall be entitled to return to an assignment comparable to the assignment held at the time such leave commenced. In any case, the assignment of the unit member upon return to work shall be comparable to that held at the time judicial leave began.

15.8 Personal Business:

The unit member may use two (2) of his/her ten (10) annual sick days for personal business.

- 15.9 STRS Disability Leave:
  - 15.9.1 A certificated unit member receiving a disability allowance from the State Teachers Retirement System (STRS) shall be placed on an unpaid leave status for a period not to exceed thirty-nine (39) months. At the end of the thirty-nine (39) month period, the certificated unit member's employment right will end.
  - 15.9.2 During the thirty-nine (39) month period, if the STRS determines that the disability no longer exists, the certificated unit member will be returned to regular status upon request by the certificated unit member. The certificated unit member shall be returned to a vacancy, if credentialed for the position, as soon as it exists, but no later than the beginning of the next school semester.
- 15.10 Fringe Benefits While on Unpaid Leave (As stated by Federal COBRA Law):

The District shall provide to all unit members on unpaid leave the existing fringe benefits package provided that the unit members on leave reimburse the District for the cost.

15.11 Military Leave:

Unit members shall be allowed military leave, subject to the provisions of applicable federal and state law.

- 15.12 Unpaid Leave of Absence:
  - 15.12.1 A leave of absence, (up to twelve [12] months), without pay, may be granted by the Board upon the recommendation of the Superintendent.
  - 15.12.2 Unit members granted a leave of absence shall notify the District in writing no later than February 1 whether they will be returning from said leave.
- 15.13 Catastrophic Leave Bank

The District and DMCTA (Association) desire to maintain a bank of sick leave days from which eligible bargaining unit members may apply for additional sick days when they or their immediate family members are suffering from a catastrophic illness or injury.

#### 15.13.1 Definition

- 15.13.1 In cases affecting a bargaining unit member, a catastrophic illness or injury is defined as one that is expected to incapacitate the bargaining unit member for extended periods of time, and which causes the bargaining unit member to exhaust all fully paid leave. An extended period of time is defined as in excess of thirty (30) workdays/six (6) work weeks. Leave bank donations will run concurrent with the one hundred (100) days of extended illness leave (commonly referred to as differential pay).
- 15.13.2 In cases affecting a bargaining unit member's immediate family, a catastrophic illness or injury is defined as an instance that requires the unit member to take time off from work to care for that family member for an extended period of time as defined by the Family Medical Leave Act. In such instances the unit member must submit verification to the Human Resources Department. Once certified, the unit member will be required to exhaust all available leave prior to accessing the bank. An extended period of time is defined as in excess of thirty (30) workdays/six (6) work weeks.

#### 15.13.2 Management

- 15.13.2.1 The governance shall be a joint responsibility of the Association and the District. The Committee shall consist of four (4) members, two (2) selected by the Association and two (2) selected by the District. A quorum shall exist when three (3) members are present. The Association President shall designate the Chair. Approval/disapproval of the leave shall be a majority vote.
- 15.13.2.2 All requests will be answered in writing within ten (10) workdays after the committee has come to a decision. Strict confidentiality shall be maintained.
- 15.13.2.3 When the days in the bank are projected to drop below one hundred fifty (150) days, one (1) additional day will be assessed for each current member. No days will be drawn from current members if the bank is at or above 150 days.
- 15.13.2.4 A unit member may enroll in the bank during the annual open enrollment period, in the month of October, each year. New employees or employees returning from an approved leave of absence will have an open enrollment period of

thirty (30) days following the date of employment or return from leave.

#### 15.13.3 Denial

- 15.13.3.1 Bargaining unit members who are injured or become ill while on an unpaid leave of absence are not entitled to the use of the bank until such time as they are scheduled to return from the leave and have exhausted their accumulated sick leave and differential leave.
- 15.13.3.2 If the committee denies a request for a withdrawal from the bank, the bargaining unit member making the request shall be notified in writing of the reason for denial. Unit members subject to denial may resubmit their request with new or additional information.
- 15.13.3.3 If the committee has insufficient days to fund a withdrawal request, neither DMCTA, the Committee, or the District shall be under any obligation to compensate the unit member.

#### 15.13.4 Eligibility

- 15.13.4.1 To be eligible to request a leave bank donation, unit members must:
  - Donate one (1) day each year during the established enrollment period until the bank reaches a balance of one hundred fifty (150) days.
  - To maintain eligibility, leave bank members must donate an additional day during the academic year upon request as required under 15.14.5.4.
  - Should a member have insufficient leave balances to meet the donation requirement, leave bank eligibility shall be terminated.
  - If a bargaining unit member does not join at the first request, he/she must wait until the next enrollment opportunity, and eligibility will become effective thirty (30) calendar days after the first contribution.
  - Proof of need must be included in every request to use the bank.

#### 15.13.5 Responsibilities

- 15.13.5.1 The District shall maintain a record of all bargaining unit members who have joined and are currently enrolled in the bank.
- 15.13.5.2 The District shall verify an applicant's sick leave to the committee and provide the applicant's remaining paid leave balance.
- 15.13.5.3 The Association shall help solicit donations during the enrollment period.
- 15.13.5.4 When the leave bank falls below one hundred fifty (150) days, the District shall assess a maximum of one (1) additional day from each Leave Bank Member.

#### 15.13.6 Donations

- 15.13.6.1 All donations are irrevocable.
- 15.13.6.2 Donations to the bank are general and are not to a specific member.

#### 15.13.7 Withdrawals

- 15.13.7.1 Withdrawals shall be granted in units of one (1) workday with a maximum withdrawal of sixty (60) work days per event.
- 15.13.7.2 Participants may request additional days if needed.
- 15.13.7.3 Days approved but not used shall be returned to the bank.
- 15.13.7.4 Decisions of the Committee are final and are not subject to the grievance procedures.

## Article 16 - Early Retirement

Unit members who meet eligibility criteria shall have the following options when considering early retirement from the District:

16.1 An eligible unit member who retires from active service under the State Teachers' Retirement System (STRS) or Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) provisions, and his/her spouse, may continue on the District's health, dental, and vision plans until age 65 at District expense consistent with District payment for current employees.

- 16.1.1 To be eligible, an employee must:
  - 16.1.1.1 Be employed by the Del Mar Union School District at the time of application
  - 16.1.1.2 Be at least 55 years of age
  - 16.1.1.3 Have completed the required years of full-time service in the Del Mar Union School District by the following ages:
  - 16.1.1.4 Age plus years of full-time service must equal 75 (rule of 75) through age 64 with a minimum retirement age of 55. For example, if a unit member retires at age 55, then he/she must have completed 20 years of full-time service, etc.
  - 16.1.1.5 Not be on any disability retirement
  - 16.1.1.6 Be ineligible for reasonably comparable health benefits through any other employer
- 16.1.2 The unit member shall notify the Superintendent by February 1 of his/her intent to take early retirement. Extenuating circumstances preventing the unit member from meeting the February 1 deadline shall be considered at the discretion of the Board, the Superintendent, and DMCTA.
- 16.1.3 The unit member shall follow procedures established by the District to implement this early retirement health insurance plan.
- 16.2 The Board at its discretion may adopt and implement in any year special one-time early retirement incentive programs.
  - 16.2.1 In extenuating circumstances that negatively impact the District's educational program, the Board at its discretion may approve and implement a special early retirement agreement developed between the Superintendent and an individual unit member. Respecting confidentiality, appropriate communication regarding these circumstances may be communicated to a representative of the bargaining unit's Executive Board.

The parties shall meet and negotiate a successor agreement to support professional development if there is a change in Education Code requirements for credential renewal.

The District values professional development and in that spirit, a good faith effort will be made to support professional development of staff that will enhance their job related responsibilities.

- 17.1 Speech Language Pathologists shall be reimbursed for up to \$500 per year for the attendance of a conference approved by the District.
- 17.2 Occupational Therapists shall be reimbursed for up to \$500 per year for the attendance at the OTAC Conference and/or for AOTA (American Occupational Therapist Association) approved professional learning related to school-based occupational therapy practice area for the purpose of maintaining professional licensure. Attendance must be pre-approved by the District.

#### Article 18 - Class Size

18.1 Maximum class size/caseload per bargaining unit member shall be the following:

Grades K - 3:	22
Grades 4 - 6:	27
Spanish Language Immersion (K-6):	25
Education Specialist	
Learning Lab	26 (up to 32 with a state waiver)
Self-Contained (K-6)	13
Early Childhood Self-Contained	13
Early Childhood Inclusion	20
Speech/Language Pathologist	
Preschool	40
K-6	53
Adapted Physical Education:	55
Occupational Therapist	60

- 18.1.1 Combination classes in grades kindergarten through sixth will have two less students than the maximum class size or grade-level average at a school site.
- 18.1.2 Caseloads for part-time special education unit members shall be determined by a pro-rata share comparable to the unit member's full-time equivalent (FTE) percentage.

- 18.1.3 Administration will make a good faith effort to equally balance students of all needs among classes and unit members.
- 18.1.4 Special Education bargaining unit member concerns related to workload shall first be brought to the site administrator for problem solving. In the event a concern cannot be resolved at the site level, the concern will be addressed by a staff support committee. The committee will include the concerned unit member, another individual from the Association, and two individuals from the District who will meet to discuss issues with the intent to problem solve and explore possible solutions.
- 18.2 Any unit member who teaches grades kindergarten through third grade or Special Education, or in a STEAM+ program shall receive 120 minutes of planning time per week. Itinerant STEAM+ teachers and Spanish Language Immersion teachers shall receive 150 minutes of planning time per week. Any unit member who teaches grades four through six shall receive 180 minutes of planning time during a normal five (5) day work week. The 120 and 180 minutes of planning time are understood to be part of the student instructional day. A good faith effort will be made to maintain the integrity of the planning time and provide time for itinerant teachers at both sites when possible.
- 18.3 Any unit member who teaches grades four through six or who teaches Spanish Language Immersion with a class size of 23 or more students shall receive four (4) hours of compensation at current non-instructional extra hourly rate following each parent/teacher conference reporting period, for a total of eight (8) hours of compensation. Note: General Education Classes.
- 18.4 When the enrollment in a general education self-contained kindergarten through sixth grade classroom exceeds the maximum class size in Article 18 paragraph 18.1, the unit member shall receive compensation as indicated below.

<u>K-3</u>

23:1 ten (10) dollars per day for the 23<sup>rd</sup> student 24:1 twenty (20) dollars per day for any student over the 23<sup>rd</sup>

#### <u>4-6</u>

28:1 no stipend

29:1 twenty (20) dollars per day for any student over the 28<sup>th</sup>

- 18.4.1 The following relief procedures may be implemented subject to mutual agreement of the grade level team and administrator:
  - Additional instructional resources mutually agreed upon by unit member and District
  - Other support strategies mutually agreed upon by unit member and District

- 18.4.2 When a unit member teaches a combination class in general education kindergarten through sixth grade, the following relief procedures shall be implemented:
  - Two (2) additional paid days beyond the 185 contracted days for the purpose of planning and preparation at his/her per diem rate
  - .2 Full-time Equivalent (FTE) certificated support or 17 hour per week classified support
  - Provide additional instructional resources mutually agreed upon by affected grade-level teams and Administration
  - Other support strategies mutually agreed upon by affected grade-level teams and Administration
- 18.4.3 When a unit member is assigned as a co-teacher, the following support procedures shall be provided to the unit member and Education Specialist:
  - 45 minutes of additional weekly collaborative planning time
  - Reduction in non-teaching duties

Other support strategies may be provided as mutually agreed upon by the co-teaching team and administrator (e.g., additional training, substitute release days).

- 18.5 Both the District and the Association recognize the need to provide a free and appropriate public education for all children in the least restrictive environment. To achieve this goal, the District and Association agree to adhere to California Special Education law and all its provisions as currently written in code of California Regulations (CCR), Title 5, or its subsequent editions.
- 18.6 When the enrollment in a special education classroom/caseload exceeds the maximums set forth in paragraph 18.1, the following procedure shall be used:
  - 18.6.1 The Specialist, his/her Principal and the Student Services Department will communicate within ten (10) days of receipt of the appropriate form at the District office to determine mutually agreeable options to resolve the problem. The Over Class Size Notification for Special Education form is attached to this contract as Appendix 5 and must be completed by the unit member and sent to the District administrator when caseloads exceed the limits set forth in paragraph 18.1. Unit members will receive a stipend when caseload exceeds the maximum caseloads set forth in paragraph 18.1. Payment of stipends for unit members with excessive caseloads will be authorized by the District administrator/Superintendent's designee after the District administrator/Superintendent's designee has reviewed the caseload information described in Appendix 5. The unit member shall be paid a daily stipend until such time as the caseload has been reduced to comply with the caseload maximums described in 18.1 or other options have been implemented that will resolve the problem.

Other options may include:

- The hiring of additional classified personnel on a temporary basis
- Depending on circumstances and availability, classified personnel may include an Instructional Aide, or a Speech/Language Pathology Assistant
- The hiring of additional certificated personnel on a temporary basis
- Contracting for services with a private provider on a temporary basis
- The hiring of a full-time substitute teacher on a temporary basis
- Providing the unit member with additional instructional resources mutually agreed upon by the teacher and District
- Providing the unit member with other support strategies mutually agreed upon by the teacher and the District
- Receipt of an excess caseload stipend in lieu of any of the other six options described in 18.7.1.
- 18.6.2 If the caseload remains above the maximum set forth in paragraph 18.1, then the unit member shall be paid a daily stipend until such time as the caseload has been reduced to comply with the caseload set forth in paragraph 18.1.
  - 18.6.2.1 The daily stipend per each self-contained special education student above the caseload maximum is \$20.
  - 18.6.2.2 The daily stipend per each Learning Lab student above the caseload maximum is \$10.
  - 18.6.2.3 The daily stipend per each unduplicated Speech/Language student above the caseload maximum of 53 students is \$10; the daily stipend per each duplicated Speech/ Language student above the caseload maximum is \$5.
  - 18.6.2.4 The daily stipend per each student receiving Adapted P.E. and Occupational Therapist services above the caseload maximum is \$5.
- 18.7 A general education teacher shall be provided a copy of a student's IEP/504 Plan one school day prior to the placement of an individual with special needs into his/her classroom given that the District has been informed by the new parent of the existing IEP/504 Plan.
- 18.8 When a student receives special education services in a self-contained special education classroom and is placed in a general education classroom for more than 50 percent of the day, this student shall be counted towards the maximum class size limit set forth in Article 18.1.

#### 19.1 Salary

- 19.1.1 Certificated employees who are included in the bargaining unit shall be compensated according to the salary schedule titled "Group 3 Regular Certificated" incorporated herein as Appendix 6.
  - 19.1.1.1 Speech Language Pathologists' initial salary placement shall be at a minimum of Step 10.
  - 19.1.1.2 Occupational Therapists who are included in the bargaining unit shall be compensated based upon the Classified Occupational Therapist salary schedule titled "Group 18 – Classified Occupational Therapist" incorporated herein as Appendix 7.
- 19.1.2 Salaries for unit members will be paid in eleven equal installments beginning in August of each school year with the final payment being made at the end of June each year.
- 19.1.3 Unit members shall advance on the salary schedule based upon completion of a full year of experience. One-step advancement shall be granted for each full year of service that is completed. (A full year of service is defined as completion of 75% of the duty days for the work year.)
  - 19.1.3.1 Part-time unit members shall advance one step on the salary schedule when the cumulative percentage of their full time equivalent (FTE) is equal to or exceeds 75% of a school year (139 full paid days). For example, an individual who works two years at a 40% FTE would have a cumulative total of 80% over two years and would therefore qualify for a step advancement on the salary schedule. Once the unit member earns his/her salary step increase, accumulation of full-time employment hours toward the next step increase begins at zero. There is no carryover.
- 19.1.4 The hourly rate for certificated unit members, for extra assigned duties that do not involve direct student instruction or service, such as curriculum writing, conducting workshops, training, staff development activities and/or before or after student supervision, lunch time clubs or playground duty shall be the non-instructional Extra Hourly Rate. Occupational Therapists shall receive an overtime rate of their daily rate paid at time and a half for work beyond their 40 hour work week.

- 19.1.5 The hourly rate for direct student instruction or service, outside of a certificated unit member's work calendar or hours, such as ESY shall be paid at the Instructional Extra Hourly Rate. Occupational Therapists shall receive an overtime rate of their daily rate paid at time and a half for work beyond their 40 hour work week.
- 19.2 Professional Growth for Salary Advancement Purposes
  - 19.2.1 Credit shall be granted to certificated unit members for the purpose of advancement on the salary schedule for the satisfactory completion of any work-related upper division or graduate level course offered by a California Commission on Teacher Credentialing approved institution or program, or alternatives that are pre-approved by the District, as per 19.2.2.
  - 19.2.2 Certificated unit members shall request approval of courses that are intended for advancement on the salary schedule by completing a "Notice of Intention to Improve Professional Training" form. (The form is available on the District website.) The form should be completed and submitted to the Human Resources Department well in advance of actual enrollment in the course to ensure that the course is acceptable for salary advancement credit.
  - 19.2.3 Credit for salary schedule advancement shall not be granted for any courses taken where any portion of travel or tuition is paid by the District.
  - 19.2.4 In order to qualify for salary schedule advancement, verification of the completion of work must be received in the Human Resources Office no later than September 1 of the year in which the advancement is to occur.
    - 19.2.4.1 An official transcript shall be submitted as soon as possible to verify the completion of work. A grade card or a written statement signed by the instructor may be used until a transcript is available.
    - 19.2.4.2 The term "unit" on the salary schedule refers to a semester unit. A quarter unit is recorded as two-thirds of a semester unit.
  - 19.2.5 Before the end of each school year, all returning certificated unit members are responsible for informing the District Office of possible changes in their salary placement.
- 19.3 Health and Welfare Benefits
  - 19.3.1 Eligible unit members shall be provided with medical, dental, vision and life insurance benefits. The maximum district contribution for all premiums

for health/welfare benefits shall be \$12,500 (the District "cap") annually. Any premium costs for health and welfare benefits that exceed \$12,500 will be the responsibility of the employee.

- 19.3.2 If a unit member selects a benefit package that exceeds the district cap, he/she will authorize a payroll deduction in the amount of the excess costs above the cap of the selected benefit package in order to reimburse the district for the additional costs of the selected benefit package.
- 19.3.3 Unit members who have been approved for shared teaching assignments for the school year will adhere to the health/welfare benefit options in Article 22 of this agreement.
- 19.3.4 The District shall make a good faith effort to provide unit members information regarding benefit rates at the earliest possible date.
- 19.3.5 If a unit member does not choose to participate in the medical coverage offered by the district, he/she must provide proof of alternative minimum essential medical coverage to the district.

#### Article 20 - Support for Beginning Teachers

The District will provide an induction program for new teachers through the North Coast Consortium.

#### Article 21 - Professional Rights

Unit members shall be provided freedom in instruction and discussion and may introduce any relevant materials provided that the presentation is a balanced representation, supporting District core curriculum/state standards, and is consistent with the State Education Code.

#### Article 22 - Shared Assignments

22.1 Permanent certificated unit members who wish to participate in a shared assignment shall submit a written application for a shared assignment on an annual basis. The application shall include a detailed plan for sharing of duties, responsibilities, and health/ welfare benefits. In addition, the application shall contain a detailed calendar for the pertinent school year that specifies the days of service for each participant in the shared assignment. The application and plan shall be submitted to the school principal/supervisor by March 1, of the year proceeding the school year in which the applicants desire to participate in the shared assignment.

- 22.2 Unit members shall be notified of their shared assignment approval or disapproval by March 15, but the final site/grade level assignment for the team will be determined using the same procedures and timelines utilized for the District's full-time unit members. If the principal/supervisor does not approve the application or plan, reasons for the disapproval shall be provided to the bargaining unit members in writing within a reasonable time. (Appeal Procedures Article 10.4.4).
- 22.3 Shared assignment team members shall share the maximum District contribution for health benefits as described in Article 19, section 19.3.1. of this agreement. Each team member must enroll in the life insurance program. The District contribution will be allocated/shared pursuant to the following options:
  - (a) A team member will receive a share of the District contribution for health benefits based upon the team members full time equivalency (FTE).
  - (b) A team member may opt out of the following, allocating their benefit cap share to their partner:
    - Medical; or
    - Dental and Vision; or
    - Medical, Dental and Vision

The health benefit programs from which the team members may select is limited to those programs offered by the District at the time the shared assignment is in effect. If a team member selects health benefit programs that exceed their share of the District contribution, the team member will authorize a payroll deduction for the premium amount that exceeds the District contribution. If a unit member does not choose to participate in the medical coverage offered by the district, he/she must provide proof of alternative minimum essential medical coverage to the district.

- 22.4 Part-time unit members shall advance one step on the salary schedule when the cumulative percentage of their full time equivalent (FTE) is equal to or exceeds 75% of a school year (139 full paid days). For example, an individual who works two years at a 40% FTE would have a cumulative total of 80% over two years and would therefore qualify for a step advancement on the salary schedule. Once the unit member earns his/her salary step increase, accumulation of full-time employment hours toward the next step increase begins at zero. There is no carryover.
  - 22.4.1 Unit members who participate in a shared contract who are eligible for the Masters Stipend shall receive the stipend prorated to their FTE.
- 22.5 Unit members who wish to participate in a shared assignment will be required to request a leave of absence without pay, as described in section 15.13 of this agreement, for that portion of the school year during which they will not be working. Unit members who participate in a shared assignment shall be offered full-time employment in the event that the shared assignment will not continue the following school year. Unit members ending a shared assignment and returning to full time

employment will be assigned to a position in accordance with the provisions of Article 10 of this agreement.

- 22.6 Unit members participating in a shared assignment shall be required to perform the complete range of adjunct duties required of a unit member in a full-time assignment.
- 22.7 The team member who is on duty at the time of the staff development/school business meetings shall provide the required essential information to the partner who is not on duty at the time.

District directed professional development trainings shall be attended by both partners. The partner who is not scheduled to work that day shall be paid the current hourly non-instructional extra hourly rate.

- 22.8 The number of shared assignments at each school site shall be limited to the following:
  - 22.8.1 At school sites with an Assistant Principal, the total number of shared assignments shall be limited to four (4).
  - 22.8.2 At school sites without an Assistant Principal, the total number of shared assignments shall be limited to three (3).
  - 22.8.3 There shall be no more than one shared assignment per grade level at any school site.
- 22.9 The duration of a shared assignment shall be limited to no more than six (6) years; however, if the maximum number of available shared assignments in the district is not fully subscribed at the end of the sixth year of a shared assignment, the existing shared assignment team may apply for an extension of the same shared assignment arrangement for an additional six (6) years.

#### Article 23 - Substitutes

Students shall not be assigned to other classrooms during the absence of their regular teacher unless all other options have been exhausted.

#### Article 24 - Bargaining Unit Member Assignments

- 24.1 No unit member shall be subject to assignments other than those specified in his/her area of certification.
- 24.2 Unit members at each work site shall be notified in writing of extra-curricular opportunities available at that work site prior to those assignments being filled. The notice shall provide a time sequence and procedure for filling the assignments.

#### Article 25 - Site-Based Decision-Making

- 25.1 The Del Mar California Teachers Association and the Del Mar Union School District believe the goal of site-based decision-making is to increase autonomy and shared decision-making, as well as professional responsibility, authority, and accountability among all personnel. It is believed that the best way to facilitate the school and organizational change needed to improve education for children is to expand the involvement of those closest to the situation through joint planning and problem solving. It is agreed that consensus will be used to achieve the goals of site-based decision-making whenever possible.
- 25.2 School site proposals shall not contain any provisions contrary to, or in conflict with, any article or section of this Agreement unless specific waivers are agreed to by the Association (Site Representative) and the District (Site Administrator) prior to a site vote. A waiver request requires a seventy-five percent (75%) majority vote of the unit members at a school site.
- 25.3 When a school site wishes to implement a site-based decision-making proposal that would require the waiving of any provision(s) of the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the Association and the District, the following steps shall be taken:
  - 25.3.1 The school site representatives shall send a letter to the Association and the District requesting which provisions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement may need to be waived in order to implement the plan. (The parties involved at the site level will refer to DMCTA's standing rules for site-based decision making). Waiver approvals must be mutually agreed upon by the District and the Association prior to implementation.
  - 25.3.2 The waiver shall be in effect for a maximum of one (1) year. The waiver can be renewed by following the same procedure outlined above unless specified by the waiver and agreed upon.

#### Article 26 - Term

This agreement shall become effective on July 1, 2022 and shall be continued through June 30, 2025. Notwithstanding Article 6.3, each year the parties may mutually agree to extend the contract by one year. Not later than July 1 of the year in which this Agreement expires, the parties shall commence the meeting and negotiation process in accordance with applicable law. Agreements shall be in writing.

#### Del Mar Union School District CONTRACT GRIEVANCE FORM

**Instructions for Employee:** Complete Parts 1 through 4 and sign the form. This form should be used to file a formal written grievance. Before filing this form, the grievant should attempt to resolve the grievance by an informal conference with the immediate supervisor. Retain one (1) and submit one (1) copy to the Association and two (2) copies to the appropriate supervisor.

To:			
	(Appropriate Supervisor)	(Position)	(Site)
From	n:(Name of Grievant)	(Position)	(Site)
An iı	nformal conference concerning th	is matter was held.	© Yes © No
Date	held:	Who was present?	
State	ement of Grievance:		
1.	Date alleged violation, misinterp first became known:		of the specific provisions of the contract
2.	Nature of grievance (briefly state)	pertinent facts – feel free to a	ttached additional one-page statement):
3.	Specific article(s) of the Contrac		erpreted or misapplied:
4.	List at least two options to remed		
	(Signature of Grievant)		(Date Filed with the District and Association)
Dist	rict Office Use: Final disposition of gr	ievance (see attached grievance reco	ords for Levels 1 II III IVV)
(§	Signature of Appropriate District Official Up	on Final Disposition)	(Date of Final Disposition)



## DEL MAR UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT Union school district Certificated Personnel – Annual Goals

Appen	div	2
Аррсп	IUIX	4

Pg \_\_\_\_ of \_\_\_

					beck if additional pages are attached.
Employee Name:			Grade Level/ Assignment:	Sch	ool:       AF       CDM       Heights       Hills         OA       SC       SR       TH
Certificated Status:	Permanent	<b>Temporary</b>	Probationary	1 <sup>st</sup> Year	<b>2</b> <sup>nd</sup> Year
Goals		Activities		d of Evaluation ificated Personnel)	Degree of Achievement (Completed on or before Summary Evaluation)
			``````````````````````````````````````	,	
		straints relative to the achievement Iditional pages when needed.			litions unique to the class or assignment.
Pre-Conference	i icase attacil a	and the pages when needed.	be sure to ually		
1 re-Conjerence					
Employee's Signa	ature	Date	Evaluator	's Signature	Date
Summary Evaluatio				-	
Employee's Signa	ature	Date	 Evaluator	's Signature	Date
Certificated Personnel – Ar				5	Page 49



# DEL MAR UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT Certificated Personnel – Evaluation Summary

			Check if additional	pages are attached.						
Employee Name :			Grade Level/ Assignment:							
School:	Ashley Falls	Carmel Del Mar	Del Mar Heights	Del Mar Hills						
5011001;	Ocean Air	Sage Canyon	Sycamore Ridge	Torrey Hills						
Certificated Status:	Permanent	Temporary	Probationary	1 <sup>st</sup> Year						
1. SOURCES OF DATA										
Written Communication       Formal & Informal Observations & Visits         Informal Conversations       Formal Conferences										
2. DEGREE OF ACHIEVEMENT (Attached completed certificated goals with summary evaluation.)										
3. INSTRUCTIONA	AL PERFORMAN	NCE								
4. GENERAL PRO	FESSIONAL PEH	RFORMANCE								
<b>5. EMPLOYEE RES</b>	SPONSE									
6 SUDEDVISOD'S	DECOMMENTS	TION								
6. SUPERVISOR'S RECOMMENDATION (A mark of "Requires Improvement" or "Unsatisfactory" requires the completion of a Certificated Assistance Plan.)										
Meets or Ex	ceeds District Requ	uirements 🗌 Require	es Improvement 🗌 U	nsatisfactory						
Employee Signature:										
Evaluator Signature:										
Signature Indicates Conference Held On (date)										
(Th	is evaluation will be plac	eeded. Be sure to date, signed in your personnel file at en		ional page.						



**DEL MAR UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT** Certificated Personnel – Interim Observation & Evaluation Report

r					tional pages are attached.
Employee Name:				Grade Level/	
No. of				Assignment:	1 🗌 Heights 🗌 Hills
Observation(s):			School:	$\square$ OA $\square$ SC	$\square SR \square TH$
Certificated Status:	Permanent	Temporary	Probationa	ry 🗌 1 <sup>st</sup> Year	$\square$ 2 <sup>nd</sup> Year
ACTIVITY:		O	BSERVATION DATE:		TIME:
1. OBSERVED AC	TIVITIES:				
2. EFFECTIVE AS	PECTS OF LI	ESSON:			
2. EFFECTIVE AS	I EC IS OF LI	255011.			
3. CONFERENCE PROFESSIONAL			EXT STEP RI	EGARDING IN	STRUCTIONAL OR
I KOT ESSIONAI					
4. SUGGESTIONS PROFESSIONAL			REGARDING	INSTRUCTIO	NAL OR
Employee Signature:					
Evaluator Signature:					
Signature Indicates Conference Held On (date	):				
(Th	is evaluation will be	e placed in your pe	rsonnel file at end	and number each of ten (10) working da ' in your personnel fil	iys.



Appendix 3

**DEL MAR UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT** Certificated Personnel – Assistance Plan

Γ			Check if additional pages are attached.							
Employee Name:				Grade Level/ Assignment:						
No. of				Assignment: AF CDM Heights Hills						
Observation(s):			School:	$\square$ OA $\square$ SC $\square$ SR $\square$ TH						
<b>Certificated Status:</b>	Permanent	Temporary	Probationa	ry $\Box 1^{st}$ Year $\Box 2^{nd}$ Year						
This form must be completed when the Evaluation Summary contains an overall "Unsatisfactory" or										
Needs Improvement notation. Attach a supplementary sheet if additional space is required. <b>1. PROBLEM AREA BACKGROUND:</b>										
I. I KODLENI AKE	A DACKORO	UND.								
2. SPECIFIC SUGO	<b>GESTIONS/DI</b>	RECTIONS	FOR IMPRO	VEMENT						
3. ASSISTANCE T	O BE PROVID	ED BY ADN	<b>IINISTRAT</b>	DR:						
4. EMPLOYEE'S C	COMMENTS:									
Notes The ultimate	usen angihilita fan i		a with the america	use Sussessful completion of the plan is						
				yee. Successful completion of the plan is ompletion of the improvement activities.						
Employee Signature:										
Evaluator Signature:										
Signature Indicates Conference Held On (date)	):									
(Th	is evaluation will be	placed in your per	sonnel file at end o	<b>and number each additional page.</b> of ten (10) working days. ' in your personnel file.)						



Appendix 4

Classified Performance Evaluation Report

				on school district			Hire Date: / /					
Emp	oloye	e Na	me		School or Department	at	Rating Period: (Probationary Employee):         2 Month       4 Month       6 Month					
Posi	tion				Employee Status	Probationary 🗌 Temporary	Rating Period ( <i>Permanent</i> Employee):					
				SECTION A	SECTION B	Record Job Strengths and Superior Performance						
Unobserved Balow Dominoments	Needs Improvement	Meets Requirements	<b>Exceeds Requirements</b>	General Performance Factors								
				1. Knowledge of Work	SECTION C	Record Progress Achieved in A Work Performance	Attaining Previously Set Goals for Improved					
				2. Job Skill Level								
				3. Quality of Work								
				4. Volume of Acceptable Work								
				5. Work Habits								
	_			6. Work Judgments								
				7. Initiative	SECTION D	Record Specific Goals and Imp During Next Evaluation Period	provement Programs to be Undertaken I					
				8. Interpersonal Contacts with Adults								
				9. Compliance With Rules								
				10. Effectiveness Under Stress								
				11. Grooming and Dress								
	_			12. Punctuality								
	_			13. Attendance		D 10 'C' W 1D C						
				14. Accepts Direction	SECTION E	Improvement or Correction	nance Deficiencies or Job Behavior Requiring					
				15. Works Positively with Students								
	_			16. Enthusiasm for the Job								
	_	_		17. Flexibility								
	_			18. Confidentiality								
	+-			<ol> <li>Positively Represents the District</li> <li>Proactively Intervenes When</li> </ol>								
				Necessary								
SUPE	RVI	SO	RY I	PERFORMANCE FACTORS	SECTION F	Record Performance on Add'l A	Assignment as:					
				1. Planning and Organizing								
				2. Training and Instruction								
$\mid \perp \mid$				3. Leadership								
				4. Supervisory Control								
		C]	heck	ts in ' <b>Below Requirements</b> ' xplained in <b>SECTION E</b> above.		SUMMARY EVAL						
	m	ust	se ez		Below Requirements Meets Requirements Exceeds Requirements							
				s in 'Exceeds Requirements'		OR PROBATIONARY EMPI						
				xplained in <b>SECTION B</b> above.		DO LIDONOT R	Recommend Permanent Status					
Comr	nents			oyee (Optional):								
				<b>PLOYEE:</b> I certify that this report has been dis			t necessarily indicate agreement.					
	E	mplo	yee	Signature:			Date:					
	E	valu	ator	Signature:			Date:					
	А	dmi	nistr	rator Signature:			Date:					

#### **APPENDIX 5**

#### Del Mar Union School District OVERCLASS SIZE NOTIFICATION FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION

TO BE COMPLETED	BY SPECIAL ED TEACHE	ER
This is to inform you th	at:	
Date:	Teacher:	School:
Class size/caseload:	Class maximum:	% Contract:
I request the following	remedy:	
1 <sup>st</sup> Choice:		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Choice:		
3 <sup>rd</sup> Choice:		
Each student has l	been verified to be a resident	continues to be eligible for Special Ed. of the Del Mar Union School District. pol Administrator Date
		PECIAL ED. ADMINISTRATOR
		alternative remedy (see comments)
	istrator's Signature)	(Date)
C	l parties are in agreement to remed	
Special Ed. Teacher		Date:
Special Ed. Administrat	tor	Date:
Principal		Date:
Overclass Size Notification for		

#### **DEL MAR UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT GROUP 3 - REGULAR CERTIFICATED**

CERTIFICATED SALARY SCHEDULE: Effective July 1, 2022 ADOPTED BY BOARD OF TRUSTEES - March 15, 2023

0750	RANGE 1	RANGE 2	RANGE 3	RANGE 4	RANGE 5		
STEP	BA ANNUAL	BA + 15 ANNUAL	BA + 30 ANNUAL	BA + 45 ANNUAL	BA + 60 ANNUAL		
1	\$63,878	\$63,878	\$63,878	\$66,582	\$70,586		
2	\$63,878	\$63,878	\$65,822	\$69,829	\$73,838		
3	\$63,878	\$65,417	\$69,069	\$73,076	\$77,081		
4	\$65,010	\$68,667	\$72,318	\$76,327	\$80,332		
5	\$68,264	\$71,911	\$75,568	\$79,573	\$83,582		
6	\$71,508	\$75,160	\$78,815	\$82,825	\$86,825		
7	\$74,759	\$78,410	\$82,062	\$86,071	\$90,078		
8	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$85,313	\$89,319	\$93,330		
9	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$88,564	\$92,568	\$96,573		
10	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$91,813	\$95,817	\$99,828		
11	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$91,813	\$99,069	\$103,074		
12	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$91,813	\$99,069	\$106,327		
13	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$91,813	\$99,069	\$109,568	Range 5	
14	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$91,813	\$99,069	\$110,663	Step Stipend	Total
15	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$95,060	\$102,312	\$113,948		
16	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$95,060	\$102,312	\$113,948	\$400	\$114,348
17	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$95,060	\$102,312	\$113,948	\$800	\$114,748
18	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$95,060	\$102,312	\$113,948	\$1,200	\$115,148
19	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$98,306	\$105,561	\$117,228		
20	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$98,306	\$105,561	\$117,228	\$400	\$117,628
21	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$98,306	\$105,561	\$117,228	\$800	\$118,028
22	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$98,306	\$105,561	\$117,228	\$1,200	\$118,428
23	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$101,486	\$108,737	\$120,434		
24	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$101,486	\$108,737	\$120,434	\$400	\$120,834
25	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$101,486	\$108,737	\$120,434	\$800	\$121,234
26	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$101,486	\$108,737	\$120,434	\$1,200	\$121,634
27	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$101,486	\$108,737	\$123,713		
28+	\$74,759	\$81,660	\$101,486	\$108,737	\$123,713	\$1,000	\$124,713

**MASTERS DEGREE STIPEND - \$2,500 PER YEAR BCLAD STIPEND FOR IMMERSION PROGRAM - \$2,500 PER YEAR** PAID IN 11 MONTHS - WORK YEAR IS 185 DAYS

Unit members shall advance on the salary schedule based upon completion of a full year of experience. One-step advancement shall be granted for each full year of service that is completed.

(A full year of service is defined as completion of 75% of the duty days for the work year).

Part-time unit members shall advance one step on the salary schedule when the cumulative percentage of their full time equivalent is equal to or exceeds 75% of a school year. Once the unit member earns his/her salary step increase, accumulation of full time employment hours toward the next step increase begins at zero. There is no carryover.

#### SPECIFIC FEATURES:

#### STRUCTURE:

Provides optimum incentive for continued service and training through:

- 1 Staggered framework which limits amount of experience credit without additional training.
- 2 Non-restricted progression which provides greater opportunity for maximum training in area of need for effective teaching in the modern elementary school classroom.
- 3 Masters Degree incentive which provides recognition for demonstrated academic pursuit.
- 4 Additional step stipends after reaching Range 5.

#### STEP:

Recognizes additional proficiency gained through successful classroom teaching.

#### RANGE:

Acts as an incentive for continued training by providing a significant increase in salary.

#### **PROFESSIONAL GROWTH:**

The Governing Board of Trustees will grant salary credit for the satisfactory completion of any upper division or graduate level course offered by an accredited institution which can be justified by the teacher and is approved by the District. Salary credit will not be granted for courses taken where any portion of travel or tuition is paid by the District.

Teachers shall request approval of courses by utilizing the proper form that is available on the District website. It should be completed well in advance of actual enrollment to ensure that the course is acceptable for salary credit.

#### **NOTIFICATION:**

Before the end of each school year, all returning personnel who are on the teachers salary schedule are responsible for informing the District Office of possible changes in their salary placement.

Verification of the completion of work must be received by the Human Resources Office no later than September 1 of the year in which the advancement is to occur.

#### DEL MAR UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT GROUP 18 - CLASSIFIED OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST

CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE : Effective July 1, 2022 ADOPTED BY BOARD OF TRUSTEES - March 15, 2023 Board Meeting

	12 Mon	260 Days, 8	ırs	11 Months, 208 I				Days, 8 Hours			
Step	Annual		Monthly	Hourly			Annual		Monthly	Hourly	
1	\$ 95,161.03	\$	7,930.09	\$	45.76		\$ 76,135.26	\$	6,921.39	\$	45.76
2	\$ 99,919.64	\$	8,326.64	\$	48.04		\$ 79,942.35	\$	7,267.49	\$	48.04
3	\$ 104,917.55	\$	8,743.13	\$	50.44		\$ 83,941.07	\$	7,631.01	\$	50.44
4	\$ 110,161.52	\$	9,180.13	\$	52.96		\$ 88,136.57	\$	8,012.42	\$	52.96
5	\$ 115,669.59	\$	9,639.13	\$	55.61		\$ 92,543.41	\$	8,413.04	\$	55.61
6	\$ 121,453.06	\$	10,121.09	\$	58.39		\$ 97,170.55	\$	8,833.69	\$	58.39
7	\$ 127,525.46	\$	10,627.12	\$	61.31		\$ 102,028.87	\$	9,275.35	\$	61.31
8	\$ 133,902.66	\$	11,158.56	\$	64.37		\$ 107,131.11	\$	9,739.19	\$	64.37
	\$ -	\$	-	\$	-		\$ -	\$	-	\$	-
5%	\$ 140,597.79	\$	11,716.48	\$	67.60		\$ 112,487.57	\$	10,226.14	\$	67.60
	\$ -	\$	-	\$	-		\$ -	\$	-	\$	-
10%	\$ 147,292.93	\$	12,274.42	\$	70.82		\$ 117,844.16	\$	10,713.11	\$	70.82
	\$ 	\$	-	\$	-		\$ -	\$	-	\$	-
15%	\$ 153,988.06	\$	12,832.34	\$	74.03		\$ 123,200.74	\$	11,200.07	\$	74.03

Occupation Therapist Calendar Year:

208 Days (185 Days plus 10 Vacation Days plus 13 Holidays)

Paid in 11 months

Annual Sick Leave = 10 Days

8 Hours per day 5 days a week

Longevity Increase after the following years of service:

10 years of service - 5% Increase

15 years of service - 10% Increase

20 years of service - 15% Increase

Employees are eligible for Longevity at the beginning of the Fiscal Year (July 1st) of their 11th, 16th, and 21st year of service at the District.

Vacation Accrual:

10 days - 1 through 5 years of service - included in Salary Schedule

12.50 days - 6 through 10 years of service - 10 days included in Salary Schedule

15 days - 11 through 21+ years of service - 10 days included in Salary Schedule

Benefits:

Full time at 40 hours per week = Health Cap (Medical, Dental, Vision and Life)

### Appendix 8

#### DEL MAR UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT Certificated Extra Hourly Rates<sup>1</sup>

- A. Instructional \$65.00<sup>2</sup> per hour
- B. Non-Instructional \$40.00 per hour

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Work shall be completed before or after the employee's regular work hours.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Rate applies only when working directly with students in an instructional or specialized service capacity.

## Appendix 9

### AMENDEMENT TO THE 2022-25 CONTRACT BETWEEN THE DEL MAR UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT AND THE DEL MAR CALIFORNIA TEACHERS ASSOCIATION

The Del Mar Union School District ("DMUSD") and Del Mar California Teachers Association ("DMCTA") met in and collectively bargained through the Interest Based Bargaining process and have mutually agreed to the following contract changes. Both parties agree to include the changes to the contract of the July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2025 Agreement between DMUSD and DMCTA ("Agreement").

#### Article 2 – Definitions

2.15 "Immediate family" means the employee's, or the employee's spouse's, or the employee's registered domestic partner's, mother (stepmother), father (stepfather), daughter (stepdaughter, daughter-in-law), son (stepson, son-in-law), grandmother, grandfather, granddaughter, grandson, sister (stepsister, sister-in-law), brother (stepbrother, brother-in-law), niece, nephew, aunt, uncle, and any person living in the household of the unit member.

#### Article 11 - Evaluations

11.2.1 Unit members with permanent status, who meet the qualifying guidelines stated in California Education Code 44664, and who have been employed by the District for at least ten (10) years and have received meets or exceeds standards on all prior evaluations, may be evaluated every three (3) years instead of every other year. The three-year evaluation cycle is subject to evaluator and unit member agreement. The unit member or the evaluator may withdraw consent at any time, and the unit member shall be returned to the evaluation cycle of every other year. Upon receipt of a requires improvement or unsatisfactory evaluation, the unit member will be returned to the annual evaluation cycle. Ten (10) year period will begin with the unit member's first year of permanent status in a certificated assignment.

#### Article 13- Professional Responsibilities/Hours of Employment/Duty

13.1 Professional Responsibilities

The unit member has the responsibility to perform the following core professional duties where applicable:

- Two night events per year:
  - General Education Teachers and Education Specialists attend Back to School Night & Open House.
  - Itinerant STEAM+ Teachers will attend both assigned site's STEAM+ Nights.
  - Non-itinerant STEAM+ Teachers will attend their site STEAM+ night and one other night as determined by the unit member and supervisor assist another site's STEAM+ night.

- Other unit members not identified above will attend up to two night events (relevant to their position) as determined by the unit member and supervisor.
- All unit members who choose to attend more than two night events will be paid the non-instructional extra hourly rate with supervisor approval.
- 13.6.1 School Psychologists shall be provided the opportunity to work up to thirtyfive hours per school year as Administrative Designee in IEP meetings. To off-set hours spent serving as Administrative Designee, the School Psychologist can be compensated for up to thirty-five additional hours per year-of on site make up time. The make-up hours will be completed on District property outside of the unit member's regular hours of employment as mutually agreed upon with the unit member's supervisor. The maximum annual stipend shall be \$5,000 and will be prorated hourly.

#### Article 15 – Leaves

15.3 Bereavement Leave:

- 15.3.1 Each unit member is entitled to a leave of absence <u>of up to five days</u> on account of death of any member of the unit member's immediate family. No deduction shall be made from the salary of such unit member <u>for three days of bereavement leave</u> nor shall such leave be deducted from other leaves. <u>A unit member is entitled to leave not to exceed three (3) days</u>. Two additional days for a total of five (5) days may be taken in the following circumstances:
  - For in-state travel if travel one (1) way exceeds four hundred (400) miles, or if out-of-state travel is required
  - For the death of a unit members spouse, <u>registered domestic partner</u>, or child, to include still-birth.

Bereavement leave may be extended by the unit member by utilizing available personal necessity leave.

#### Article 19 – Salaries and Benefits

19.3 Health and Welfare Benefits

19.3.1 Eligible unit members shall be provided with medical, dental, vision and life insurance benefits. The maximum district contribution for all premiums for health/welfare benefits shall be \$12,500.\$13,500 (the District "cap") annually. Any premium costs for health and welfare benefits that exceed \$12,500.\$13,500 will be the responsibility of the employee.

#### **Compensation**

- Increase on schedule of 4.25%, effective July 1, 2022
- Increase of benefit cap to \$13,500 effective 2023/24 school year

The elements described above represent the entirety of the tentative agreement between the parties.